No. 44414-3

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JEFFERY ANTONIO WILLIS,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

MAUREEN M. CYR
Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701
Seattle, Washington 98101
(206) 587-2711

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court erred in refusing to instruct the jury that possession could not be established if Mr. Willis had only “passing control” of the firearm, as there was evidence to support the theory on which the instruction was based.

2. The trial court erred in admitting unfairly prejudicial and minimally relevant evidence that Mr. Willis had three prior convictions for driving under the influence.

3. The State did not prove all of the elements of unlawful possession of a firearm beyond a reasonable doubt.

4. The State did not prove all of the elements of unlawful display of a weapon beyond a reasonable doubt.

5. The trial court’s finding that Mr. Willis had the ability to pay the ordered financial obligations is not supported by the record.
Judgment and Sentence Finding of Fact 2.5.

6. The trial court erred in ordering Mr. Willis to pay discretionary legal financial obligations.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. A defendant in a criminal case is entitled to a jury instruction that is a correct statement of the law, as long as there is evidence to

support the theory on which the instruction is based. The evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the defendant. Did the trial court err in refusing Mr. Willis's proposed jury instruction on "passing control," where the evidence showed that Mr. Willis had only momentary control of the firearm?

2. A trial court may not admit evidence of a defendant's prior bad acts unless the evidence is relevant for a reason other than to show propensity, and only if the probative value of the evidence outweighs its potential for undue prejudice. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in admitting evidence that Mr. Willis was convicted three times several years in the past for driving under the influence, where the potential prejudicial impact of the evidence far outweighed any minimal relevance it might have?

3. To prove the crimes of unlawful possession of a firearm and unlawful display of a firearm, the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt the defendant possessed an operable "firearm." Did the State fail to prove the crimes where the State did not prove that the firearm in evidence was the same firearm Mr. Willis allegedly possessed?

4. The trial court did not inquire as to Mr. Willis's financial condition or his present or future ability to pay legal financial

obligations but entered a written finding that Mr. Willis had the present or future ability to pay them. Must the court's factual finding be stricken in the absence of any supporting evidence in the record?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 21, 2011, at around 10:30 p.m., Jeffery Willis went to a bar and grill in Tacoma called Latitude 84. 4/18/12RP 7-8. He went to celebrate having painted his first car in his auto mechanics class. 4/18/12RP 8-9. He stayed for a few hours, drinking vodka and celebrating with friends. 4/18/12RP 8-9. He had not drunk much in the past few months and was not used to the effects of alcohol. 4/18/12RP 20. He became quite inebriated. 4/18/12RP 20.

Toward the end of the evening, at around 1:30 or 2 a.m., Mr. Willis went outside to urinate in the parking lot because he had been told the restroom inside the bar was closed. 4/18/12RP 11. He thought he was urinating on the ground but in fact he was urinating on someone's car. 4/18/12RP 11. As he was urinating, the man who owned the car, a regular at the bar named "Norman," walked by and hit him in the head. 4/16/12RP 26; 4/18/12RP 10.

Norman stormed back into the bar, yelling that Mr. Willis had just urinated on his car and must pay to have it washed. 4/16/12RP 26.

Mr. Willis came in behind him and the two men yelled at each other and then broke into a fistfight. 4/16/12RP 27-28. The bartender, Sesilia Thomas, and the bouncer, Mulimauga Semaia, broke up the fight and escorted Mr. Willis outside. 4/16/12RP 28; 4/17/12RP 14. Norman remained inside the bar. 4/16/12RP 28; 4/17/12RP 14. Ms. Thomas and Mr. Semaia told Mr. Willis to leave the premises. 4/16/12RP 32.

Mr. Willis was agitated and wanted to go back inside the bar to continue his fight with Norman. 4/16/12RP 33. Another man, Perry Griffin, was sitting in an SUV in a parking lot across the street and watching the proceedings. 4/16/12RP 44. Ms. Thomas had ejected Mr. Griffin from the bar earlier that evening for an unrelated incident. 4/16/12RP 34. Mr. Griffin was a “hothead” and a “trouble-maker” and Ms. Thomas had told him to leave and never come back. 4/16/12RP 43-44. When Mr. Griffin saw Mr. Willis, he drove his SUV back into the bar parking lot. 4/16/12RP 34, 44. He got out of his car and handed Mr. Willis what looked like a gun. 4/16/12RP 34. Ms. Thomas said the object looked like a silver semiautomatic handgun. 4/16/12RP 35, 55-56.

Mr. Willis did not know Mr. Griffin and had never seen him at the bar before. 4/17/12RP 16. Nonetheless, according to Ms. Thomas, Mr. Willis took the gun from Mr. Griffin. He tripped and the gun flew out of his hand. 4/16/12RP 35. He got up, grabbed the gun, and pointed it in the air, at which point the magazine fell out of the gun. 4/16/12RP 35. Mr. Willis did not point the gun at anyone and no shots were fired. 4/16/12RP 42, 47. He paced back and forth and walked toward the door of the bar but Ms. Thomas told him to leave. 4/16/12RP 36. He then walked behind a car and Mr. Griffin came over, grabbed the gun, and drove away in his SUV. 4/16/12RP 38-39. No one else handled the gun other than Mr. Griffin and Mr. Willis. 4/16/12RP 39.

Ms. Thomas estimated Mr. Willis had the gun in his hand for about two minutes. 4/16/12RP 49-50. A videotape from a security camera outside the bar showed the man in the parking lot held the gun in his hand for only about 30 seconds. 4/18/12RP 15.

Ms. Thomas noted Mr. Griffin's license plate number and called 911 and gave them the information. 4/16/12RP 38. Police soon arrived on the scene.

When police arrived, Mr. Willis was just leaving the parking lot in a car with his brother and his brother's girlfriend. 4/17/12RP 28; 4/18/12RP 21. Mr. Willis was in the back seat. 4/17/12RP 30. Police stopped the car and arrested Mr. Willis. 4/17/12RP 29, 32. Police did not find any guns in the car. 4/17/12RP 34.

Other officers stopped the SUV that Mr. Griffin was driving and he was also arrested. 4/17/12RP 51-52. Mr. Griffin dropped a silver semiautomatic handgun onto the ground as he got out of the car. 4/17/12RP 53, 61. Police seized the gun and entered it into evidence. 4/17/12RP 56.

Mr. Willis was charged with one count of unlawful possession of a firearm in the first degree, RCW 9.41.040(1)(a); and one count of unlawful display of a firearm, RCW 9.41.270(1) and (2). CP 4-5.

At trial, a police officer testified that when police found Mr. Griffin's gun, it had a magazine in it but no round in the chamber. 4/17/12RP 53, 57. The gun would not fire without a round in the chamber. 4/17/12RP 64. The button required to release the magazine was very stiff and a person would need to use considerable force to release the catch. 4/17/12RP 62. Although someone gripping the gun could inadvertently hit the button, the button was so stiff the person

would have to use concentrated effort to push hard enough to release it.
4/17/12RP 63.

Mr. Willis stipulated that the gun found on Mr. Griffin was test
fired and found to be operational. 4/17/12RP 66.

Mr. Willis testified he was intoxicated that night and could not
remember much of what happened. 4/18/12RP 11. He said he was not
a typical drinker and had not drunk much “since I got a DUI years
ago.” 4/18/12RP 11. The last time he had anything to drink was a few
months earlier. 4/18/12RP 12, 20. He did not remember anyone
handing him a gun and did not remember holding a gun at any time.
4/18/12RP 12, 15, 23.

After Mr. Willis’s testimony on direct, the deputy prosecutor
moved, out of the presence of the jury, to admit evidence of Mr.
Willis’s three prior convictions for DUI, going back to 1999.
4/18/12RP 23-24. The prosecutor argued the evidence was relevant to
impeach Mr. Willis’s testimony that he was not a typical drinker and
did not have a high tolerance for alcohol. 4/18/12RP 24. The trial
court granted the motion, over defense objection. 4/18/12RP 25-28.

On cross-examination, Mr. Willis testified he had been
convicted of DUI in 1999, 2004, and 2006. 4/18/12RP 40-41. He said

he stopped drinking for a while after his last DUI conviction.

4/18/12RP 63.

At the close of testimony, defense counsel proposed the following instruction on “passing control”:

Possession is not established if, at most, there is passing control. Passing control is momentary handling.

It is not enough that the defendant might have been in close proximity to the firearm or that he might have momentarily handled it with a brief and passing control.

CP 8. The trial court refused to give the instruction, saying the evidence did not support it. Counsel objected. 4/18/12RP 82-83.

The jury found Mr. Willis guilty of both counts as charged.

4/19/12RP 42; CP 13-14.

D. ARGUMENT

1. **The trial court erred in refusing to provide the jury with the defense-proposed instruction on “passing control” because the evidence supported the instruction**

It is a fundamental principle of criminal procedure that a defendant in a criminal case has a constitutional right to fully defend against the charges. “The right of an accused in a criminal trial to due process is, in essence, the right to a fair opportunity to defend against the State's accusations.” Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 294,

93 S. Ct. 1038, 35 L. Ed. 2d 297 (1973); U.S. Const. amend. XIV;
Const. art. I, § 3.

A defendant in a criminal case is entitled to have the jury fully instructed on the defense theory of the case. State v. Staley, 123 Wn.2d 794, 803, 872 P.2d 502 (1994). The trial court must provide an instruction that supports the defense theory, as long as the instruction is an accurate statement of the law and is supported by the evidence. State v. Wanrow, 88 Wn.2d 221, 237, 559 P.2d 548 (1977).

To prove a defendant committed a crime involving the possession of contraband, the State must prove “possession” as an element of the offense. Staley, 123 Wn.2d at 802. “Possession is defined in terms of personal custody or dominion and control.” Id. at 798. Possession may be actual or constructive. Id. “Actual possession means that the goods are in the personal custody of the person charged with possession; whereas, constructive possession means that the goods are not in actual, physical possession, but that the person charged with possession has dominion and control over the goods.” Id.

To meet its burden on the element of possession the State must establish “actual control, not a passing control which is only a momentary handling.” State v. Callahan, 77 Wn.2d 27, 29, 459 P.2d

400 (1969). To establish the element of possession, the State must prove more than a passing control; it must prove actual control. Staley, 123 Wn.2d at 802. Whether the defendant had actual control is a question for the jury, based on the totality of the circumstances. Id. The duration of the handling is one factor to be considered in determining whether control, and therefore possession, has been established. Id.

In Callahan, the police executed a search warrant and found drugs in several locations on a houseboat. Callahan, 77 Wn.2d 27. The issue on appeal was whether sufficient evidence existed for the jury to find the defendant possessed the drugs. The defendant was merely a visitor to the houseboat but admitted to police that earlier on the day of the search he had handled the drugs the police later found. The court first considered whether the evidence supported a finding of actual possession. Since the defendant was not found with the drugs on his person the court stated that

the only basis on which the jury could find that the defendant had actual possession would be the fact that he had handled the drugs earlier and such actions are not sufficient for a charge of possession since possession entails actual control, not a passing control which is only a momentary handling.

Id. at 29.

The Callahan court then turned to the issue of constructive possession and determined that proof of mere proximity to the drugs and an earlier momentary handling did not establish dominion and control over the drugs; thus, the evidence was insufficient to “make the issue of constructive possession a question for the jury.” Id. at 31. Significant to this determination was testimony that the drugs were owned by another person who had sole control over them. The court said that “[c]onsideration must be given to the ownership of the drugs as ownership can carry with it the right of dominion and control.” Id.

In its analysis, Callahan relied on language from United States v. Landry, 257 F.2d 425 (7th Cir. 1958). The facts in Landry were similar to those in Callahan. In neither case was the defendant physically in possession of the drugs. In each case the prosecution attempted to prove actual possession by relying on the defendant’s statements that each had handled the drugs at an earlier time. Rejecting the government’s argument that the defendant’s admission proved his actual possession, the Landry court said “[t]o ‘possess’ means to have actual control, care and management of, and not a passing control.” Landry, 257 F.2d at 431 (citing United States v. Wainer, 170 F.2d 603, 606 (7th Cir. 1948)).

The focus of these cases is the level of control the prosecution must prove to establish possession. Staley, 123 Wn.2d at 802. “To establish possession the prosecution must prove more than a passing control; it must prove actual control.” Id.

In this case, the defense proposed the following instruction on the theory of passing control:

Possession is not established if, at most, there is passing control. Passing control is momentary handling. It is not enough that the defendant might have been in close proximity to the firearm or that he might have momentarily handled it with a brief and passing control.

CP 8. This is a correct statement of the law and should be submitted to the jury if supported by the evidence in the case. State v. Werry, 6 Wn. App. 540, 547, 494 P.2d 1002 (1972).

When determining whether the evidence at trial was sufficient to support the giving of an instruction, the appellate court views the supporting evidence in the light most favorable to the party that requested the instruction. State v. Fernandez-Medina, 141 Wn.2d 448, 455-56, 6 P.3d 1150 (2000). Whether the evidence was sufficient to justify a proposed instruction is a question of law reviewed de novo. State v. Bea, 162 Wn. App. 570, 577, 254 P.3d 948, review denied, 173 Wn.2d 1003, 271 P.3d 248 (2011).

Here, when viewed in the light most favorable to Mr. Willis, the evidence was sufficient to support his proposed instruction on “passing control.” Like the defendants in Callahan and Landry, Mr. Willis was not in actual physical possession of the firearm at the time of his arrest. Nor did he have constructive possession of the firearm at that time. Instead, the firearm was in the actual physical custody of Mr. Griffin.

Also like the defendants in Callahan and Landry, Mr. Willis handled the gun only momentarily. He held the gun for as little as 30 seconds. 4/18/12RP 15. This suggests he did not have actual control over the firearm but only what amounted to “a momentary handling.” Callahan, 77 Wn.2d at 29.

Finally, as in Callahan, someone else owned the gun and had exclusive control, care and management of it. Id. at 31; Landry, 257 F.2d at 431. Mr. Griffin handed Mr. Willis the gun personally and did not let the gun out of his sight. He retrieved the gun from Mr. Willis after Mr. Willis had handled it for only a brief period of time. Mr. Griffin took the gun with him in his SUV when he left the scene. As the apparent owner of the gun, Mr. Griffin had “the right of dominion and control” over it. Callahan, 77 Wn.2d at 31. He exercised that control by deciding to whom to give the gun, for how long, and under

what circumstances. Although Mr. Willis held the gun briefly, he never had the right of dominion and control over it. Therefore, when the evidence is viewed in the light most favorable to Mr. Willis, it is more than sufficient to support the proposed jury instruction on passing control.

Because the proposed instruction on passing control was a correct statement of the law and supported by the evidence, the court erred in refusing to provide it to the jury. Wanrow, 88 Wn.2d at 237. The error is presumed prejudicial and requires reversal of the conviction unless it affirmatively appears to be harmless. Id.; State v. Rice, 102 Wn.2d 120, 123, 683 P.2d 199 (1984). The error is harmless only if it had no effect on the final outcome of the case. Rice, 102 Wn.2d at 123.

Because the jury could have concluded that Mr. Willis had only passing control of the firearm and not actual control and custody of it, the court's failure to give the proposed instruction is not harmless. The conviction for unlawful possession of a firearm must be reversed.

2. **The trial court abused its discretion in admitting unfairly prejudicial and minimally relevant evidence of Mr. Willis's past convictions for driving under the influence**

“Evidence which is not relevant is not admissible” in a criminal trial. ER 402. Evidence is “relevant” if it tends “to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” ER 401. But even if evidence is relevant, it is not admissible “if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury.” ER 403.

Evidence of a defendant's other crimes, wrongs or acts is categorically excluded if the only relevance of the evidence is “to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith.” ER 404(b). “ER 404(b) is not designed to deprive the State of relevant evidence necessary to establish an essential element of its case, but rather to prevent the State from suggesting that a defendant is guilty because he or she is a criminal-type person who would be likely to commit the crime charged .” State v. Foxhoven, 161 Wn.2d 168, 175, 163 P.3d 786 (2007) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). Such evidence is admissible only if it “is logically relevant to prove an essential element of the crime charged, rather than to show the

defendant had a propensity to act in a certain manner.” State v. Wilson, 144 Wn. App. 166, 177, 181 P.3d 887 (2008). If the prejudicial effect of the evidence outweighs its probative value, it must be excluded. Id.

A court’s ER 404(b) ruling is reviewed for abuse of discretion. In close cases, the balance must be tipped in favor of the defendant. Id.

Here, the trial court admitted, over defense objection, evidence that Mr. Willis was convicted of DUI three times: in 1999, 2004, and 2006. 4/18/12RP 25-28. The prosecutor claimed the evidence was relevant to undermine Mr. Willis’s testimony that he was not a typical drinker, that he had not drunk much since his conviction for DUI “years ago,” and that he was consequently not used to the effects of alcohol. 4/18/12RP 11-12, 20, 24.

Mr. Willis had already admitted he was previously convicted of DUI. The evidence that he had two additional convictions for DUI years earlier did nothing to undermine his testimony that he had not drunk much since his most recent conviction in 2006. Therefore, the evidence was not relevant to impeach his credibility, as the prosecutor claimed. The only possible relevance of the evidence was to suggest that Mr. Willis was a “criminal-type person who would be likely to

commit the crime charged.” Foxhoven, 161 Wn.2d at 175. As such, the evidence was inadmissible. ER 404(b).

The erroneous admission of evidence in violation of ER 404(b) requires reversal if, within reasonable probabilities, the outcome of the trial would have been materially affected had the error not occurred. State v. Gresham, 173 Wn.2d 405, 433, 269 P.3d 207 (2012). Here, the evidence of Mr. Willis’s multiple convictions for DUI probably affected the outcome of the trial. The evidence suggested not only that he was a “criminal-type person” who likely committed the current crime, but also that he was a heavy drinker who could not control his behavior when intoxicated. It is therefore likely the evidence distracted the jury’s attention from the facts of the case and Mr. Willis’s behavior on this particular occasion, and encouraged the jury to rely on evidence of his past crimes. Because the evidence was unfairly prejudicial and likely affected the outcome of the case, the convictions must be reversed.

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