NO. 44414 3 -II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

V. 

JEFFERY A. WILLIS, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Frederick Fleming

No. 11 - 1- 04302 -1

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK LINDQUIST

Prosecuting Attorney

By
THOMAS C. ROBERTS

Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSB # 17442

930 Tacoma Avenue South

Room 946

Tacoma, WA 98402

PH: ( 253) 798 -7400

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

stand, apparently overcome by these accusations. 3 RP 11. The defendant

also testified that possessing a firearm would be out of character for him; 

that he would not possess one in the first place because of concerns for the

law and his child. 3 RP 17 -18. 

The trial court considered this testimony before ruling. 3 RP 28 -29, 

30, 32 -33. The defendant opened the door to potentially prejudicial

impeachment evidence and then argued that it should be excluded as too

prejudicial. 3 RP 29, 31. Before the impeachment evidence came out, the

court cautioned the jury with a limiting instruction. 3 RP 40, CP 12. It is

presumed that the jury properly followed this instruction. See, e. g., State v. 

Montgomery, 163 Wn.2d 577, 596, 183 P. 3d 267 ( 2008). The trial court

committed no error. 

3. THE STATE ADDUCED SUFFICIENT

EVIDENCE TO PROVE ALL ELEMENTS OF

THE CRIMES CHARGED, BEYOND A

REASONABLE DOUBT. 

In a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence, the appellate

court determines whether any rational fact finder could have found the

essential elements of the charged crime beyond a reasonable doubt, 
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viewing the trial evidence in the light most favorable to the State. State v. 

Brockob, 159 Wn.2d 311, 336, 150 P. 3d 59 ( 2006). An insufficiency

claim " admits the truth of the State' s evidence and all inferences that

reasonably can be drawn therefrom." State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 

201, 829 P. 2d 1068 ( 1992). Direct and circumstantial evidence are equally

reliable. State v. Thomas, 150 Wn.2d 821, 874, 83 P. 3d 970 ( 2004). The

Court defers to the trier of fact on issues of conflicting testimony, witness

credibility, and the persuasiveness of evidence. Thomas, at 874 -875; State

v. Delmarter, 94 Wn.2d 634, 638, 618 P. 2d 99 ( 1980). 

Under RCW 9.41. 040, convicted felons cannot possess firearms. 

Often, as the present case, the issue is " possession." Possession of a

firearm may be actual or constructive. State v. Staley, 123 Wn.2d 794, 

798, 872 P. 2d 502 ( 1994); State v. Lee, 158 Wn. App. 513, 517, 243 P. 3d

929 ( 2010). Actual possession means that the person charged with

possession had " personal custody" or " actual" physical possession. Staley, 

123 Wn.2d at 798. See State v. Callahan, 77 Wn.2d, 27, 29, 459 P. 2d 400

1969). In this case, the only issues are " possession" and the " identity" of

the firearm. App. Br. at 20 -21. 

The appellate court defers to the trier of fact on issues of

conflicting testimony, credibility of witnesses, and persuasiveness of the

evidence. State v. Thomas, 150 Wn.2d 821, 874 - 875, 83 P. 3d 970 ( 2004). 
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In the present case, two witnesses testified that the defendant held and

brandished a silver - colored pistol. 1 RP 35, 45, 2 RP 16. The defendant

pointed the gun in the air and pulled the trigger. 1 RP 35, 42, 46, 2 RP 15. 

The witnesses saw the magazine drop out of the pistol in the defendant's

hand. 1 RP 35. The defendant did this 5 - 10 feet from the two witnesses. 1

RP 35, 52, 2 RP 17. All of this was recorded on surveillance video. Exh. 

16. The witnesses used photographs taken from the video, pointing out

what they depicted. Exh. 1 - 6. 

The pistol was delivered to the defendant by Perry Griffin. 1 RP

34. After the defendant's unsuccessful use of the pistol, Griffin took it

back. 1 RP 35, 38, 45. Police stopped Griffin nearby. 2 RP 51. He had

only one gun with him. 2 RP 53. The gun matched the description given

by the witnesses. Exh. 18, 2 RP 56. 

This is all evidence that the defendant admits is true. See Salinas, 

supra. Likewise, he concedes all the inferences that can reasonably be

drawn from the evidence. Id. Based upon all this direct and circumstantial

evidence, the jurors could certainly conclude that the gun found with the

person who was seen to give the gun to the defendant, and then take it

back, was the same gun the defendant possessed and tried to fire. They

could also find the rest of the elements beyond a reasonable doubt. 
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4. THE TRIAL COURT LAWFULLY ORDERED

THE DEFENDANT TO PAY LEGAL

FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS. 

a. The trial court did not err in ordering the
defendant to pay legal financial obligations. 

Pursuant to RCW 10. 01. 160, the court may require defendants to

pay court costs and other assessments associated with bringing the case to

trial: 

1) The court may require a defendant to pay costs. Costs
may be imposed only upon a convicted defendant, except
for costs imposed upon a defendant's entry into a deferred
prosecution program, costs imposed upon a defendant for

pretrial supervision, or costs imposed upon a defendant for

preparing and serving a warrant for failure to appear. 

RCW 10. 0 1. 160( l). 

Different components of defendant' s financial obligations require

separate analysis because some LFO' s are mandatory and some are

discretionary. State v. Baldwin, 63 Wn. App. 303, 309, 818 P. 2d 1116

1991); State v. Curry, 118 Wn.2d 911, 915 - 916, 829 P. 2d 166 ( 1992). 

The sentencing court' s determination of a defendant' s resources and

ability to pay legal financial obligations is reviewed under the clearly

erroneous standard. Baldwin, 63 Wn. App. at 312. 

The court does not always have discretion regarding LFOs. Under

statute, it is mandatory for the court to impose the following LFOs

whenever a defendant is convicted of a felony: criminal filing fee, crime
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victim assessment fee, and DNA database fee. RCW 7. 68. 035; RCW

43. 43. 754; RCW 9. 94A.030; RCW 36. 18. 020( h). The court is also

mandated to impose restitution whenever the defendant is convicted of an

offense that results in injury to any person. RCW 9.94A.753( 5). 

As in State v. Lundy, - Wn. App. - , 308 P. 3d 755 ( 2013), the

defendant in the present case does not distinguish between mandatory and

discretionary legal financial obligations. This is an important distinction

because for mandatory legal financial obligations, the legislature has

divested courts of the discretion to consider a defendant' s ability to pay

when imposing these obligations. See RCW 9. 94A.505, RCW

9. 94A.753( 4) and ( 5); Lundy, at 759. For victim restitution, victim

assessments, DNA fees, and criminal filing fees, the legislature has

directed expressly that a defendant' s ability to pay should not be taken into

account. See, e. g., State v. Kuster, 175 Wn. App. 420, 306 P. 3d 1022

2013). In the present case, the court only imposed mandatory fees: 

CVPA, filing fee, and DNA. CP 41. The trial court followed the law. 

There was no error. 

Even though the court only imposed mandatory LFOs, the record

shows that the defendant has the present and future ability to pay the

LFOs. Unlike State v. Bertrand, 165 Wn. App. 393, 267 P. 3d 511 ( 2011), 

the record here shows that the defendant is able - bodied. Among other
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things, the record shows that the defendant is a 35 year -old man with

many friends and family. 3 RP 5, 5 RP 6. As the Court noted in Calvin, 

Order Granting, at 4, the defendant in the present case had the resources

or financial support to pay private counsel. Before his arrest, the defendant

was employed fulltime at Milgard Windows. 3 RP 5, 5 RP 6. At the same

time, he was also enrolled in a training program at Clover Park Technical

College for a career as an auto mechanic or auto body repairman. 3 RP 5, 

This Court should affirm the trial court' s imposition of LFOs

because, in conjunction with statutory authority which compels the court

to impose LFOs, the court properly found that the defendant has the

present or future ability to pay LFOs. There was sufficient evidence in the

record for the court to determine that the defendant has the ability to pay

his LFOs. 

b. The Calvin opinion was recently changed to
agree with Blazina and Lundy. 

The defendant relies extensively on State v. Calvin, - Wn. App. - , 

302 P. 3d 509 ( 2013). App. Br. at 22 -24. However, Division I has changed

the relevant holding of that case. On October 22, 2013, Division I of the

Court of Appeals filed an Order granting reconsideration and amending its

opinion in State v. Calvin. See Order Granting (attached as Appendix). 
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The Court reversed itself and deleted the section which had previously

found no evidence to support the trial court' s findings. Order Granting, at

1. The Court deleted and replaced section V of Calvin, at 20 -22. The new

section V declines to review the LFO issue for the first time on appeal. 

Order Granting, at 3. The Court goes on to say that, substantively, the trial

court' s " finding" was supported by the record and therefore was not clearly

erroneous. Id., at 3 -4. Regarding the LFO issues, the Court affirmed the

trial court in all aspects. 

Division I also rejected this argument in State v. Parmelee, 172

Wn. App. 899, 917, 292 P. 3d 799 ( 2013), where the defendant argued that

the trial court erred by imposing discretionary legal financial obligations

without finding that he had any ability to pay. Division I held that the

court' s discretionary LFO order did not require findings ( citing Curry, 118

Wn.2d at 916) and that the issue of ability to pay would be considered

when the State tried to collect (citing Blank, 131 Wn.2d at 242). Id., at

918. 

C. The issue was not preserved for appeal. 

RAP 2. 5( a) grants the Appellate Court discretion in refusing to

review claims of error not raised at the trial court level. RAP 2. 5( a) also

provides three circumstances in which an appellant may raise an issue for

the first time on appeal: ( 1) lack of trial court jurisdiction, (2) failure to
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establish facts upon which relief can be granted, or ( 3) manifest error

affecting a constitutional right. Id. 

In State v. Blazina, 174 Wn. App. 906, 911, 301 P. 3d 492 ( 2013), 

review granted, 178 Wn.2d 1010 ( 2013), the Court of Appeals declined to

review the LFO issue for the first time on appeal. See also State v. Lundy, 

Wn. App. -, 308 P. 3d 755, 763 ( 2013); State v. Ralph, 175 Wn. App. 

814, 827, 308 P. 3d 729 ( 2013) ( Johanson, A.C. J., concurring in both

cases). In Calvin, supra, Division I likewise now declines to review the

issue for the first time on appeal. 

In this case, the defendant does not claim any of the three

circumstances listed under RAP 2. 5( a) in which an issue could be raised

for the first time on appeal. The defendant made no objection to the

imposition of LFO' s. 5 RP 4 -6. In fact, he provided information regarding

his past employment history and his vocational training program. 5 RP 6. 

Therefore, the defendant did not properly preserve this issue for appeal. 

The Court of Appeals should not review this issue. 

d. The issue is not ripe for review. 

Trial courts may require defendants to pay court costs and other

assessments associated with bringing the case to trial. RC W 10. 01. 160. 

RCW 10. 01. 160( 3) requires the trial court to consider a defendant's ability

to pay: 
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The court shall not order a defendant to pay costs unless the
defendant is or will be able to pay them. In determining the
amount and method of payment of costs, the court shall

take account of the financial resources of the defendant and

the nature of the burden that payment of costs will impose. 

Within the statute are constitutional safeguards that prevent the court from

improperly imposing LFOs and allow the defendant to modify payment of

costs. RCW 10. 01. 160( 4): 

A defendant who has been ordered to pay costs and who is
not in contumacious default in the payment thereof may at
any time petition the sentencing court for remission of the
payment of costs or of any unpaid portion thereof. If it
appears to the satisfaction of the court that payment of the

amount due will impose manifest hardship on the defendant
or the defendant' s immediate family, the court may remit
all or part of the amount due in costs, or modify the method
of payment under RCW 10. 01. 170. 

The defendant remains under the court' s jurisdiction after release

for collection of restitution until the amounts are fully paid, and the time

period extends even beyond the statutory maximum term for the sentence. 

RCW 9. 94A.753( 4). 

The time to challenge the imposition of LFOs is when the State

seeks to collect the costs. See State v. Blank, 131 Wn.2d 230, 930 P. 2d

1213 ( 1997); State v. Smits, 152 Wn. App. 514, 216 P. 3d 1097 ( 2009) 

citing State v. Baldwin, 63 Wn. App. 303, 310 -311, 818 P. 2d 1116

1991)). The time to examine a defendant' s ability to pay costs is when the

government seeks to collect the obligation because the determination of
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whether the defendant either has or will have the ability to pay is clearly

somewhat speculative. Baldwin, at 311; see also State v. Crook, 146 Wn. 

App. 24, 27, 189 P. 3d 811 ( 2008). A defendant's indigent status at the time

of sentencing does not bar an award of costs. Id. Likewise, the proper time

for findings " is the point of collection and when sanctions are sought for

nonpayment." Blank, 131 Wn.2d 230, 241 - 242. 

Here, the judgment and sentence recites that the court considered

or, in the language of the statute, " took account" of, the defendant's

present and likely future financial resources: 

The court has considered the total amount owing, the
defendant's past, present and future ability to pay future
legal financial obligations, including the defendant' s
financial resources and the likelihood that that the

defendant's status will change. The court finds that the

defendant has the ability or likely future ability to pay the
legal financial obligations imposed herein. 

CP 41. That recitation satisfies the prerequisites for imposing financial

obligations. 

The " boilerplate" finding of ability to pay on the Judgment and

Sentence is likely an effort to standardize compliance with RCW

10.01. 160( 3) and State v. Curry, 118 Wn.2d 911, 829 P. 2d 166 ( 1992). As

the Court of Appeals observed in its original opinion in Calvin, 302 P. 3d

at 521, and Lundy, 308 P. 3d at 760, it is unnecessary under the statute. 
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In Lundy, the Court notes that confusion stems from a misreading

of the fifth factor in Curry, 118 Wn.2d at 915: " A repayment obligation

may not be imposed if it appears there is no likelihood the defendant' s

indigency will end." Division II points out that Curry does not say that " a

repayment obligation may not be imposed unless it appears from the

record that there is a likelihood that the defendant will have the future

ability to pay legal financial obligations." 308 Wn. App. at 760, n. 9. 

Although the trial court also " found" that the defendant had the present or

likely future ability to pay the financial obligations, that conclusion or

finding is immaterial and does not warrant relief even if it is not supported

by the record. See State v. Caldera, 66 Wn. App. 548, 551, 832 P. 2d 139

1992). As pointed out above, in the present case, the record included

more than enough information to support the trial court' s " finding." 

The defendant has the burden to show indigence. See RCW

10. 01. 020; Lundy, 308 Wn. App. at 759, n. 5. Defendants who claim

indigency must do more than plead poverty in general terms in seeking

remission or modification of LFOs because compliance with the

conditions imposed under a Judgment and Sentence are essential. State v. 

Woodward, 116 Wn. App. 697, 703 -704, 67 P. 3d 530 ( 2003). While a

court may not incarcerate an offender who truly cannot pay LFOs, the

defendant must make a good faith effort to satisfy those obligations by
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seeking employment, borrowing money, or raising money in any other

lawful manner. Bearden v. Georgia, 461 U. S. 660, 103 S. Ct. 2064, 76 L. 

Ed. 2d 221 ( 1976); Woodward, 116 Wn. App. at 704. 

In this case, the defendant challenges the court' s imposition of

LFOs claiming it erred in when it found the defendant had the present or

future ability to pay costs. Here, the State has not attempted to collect

legal financial obligations from the defendant nor established when he is

expected to begin repayment of these obligations. See CP 42. The State

has not sought enforcement of the costs; therefore, the determination as to

whether the trial court erred is not ripe for adjudication. See Lundy, 308 P. 

3d at 761. 

The time to challenge the costs is at the time the State seeks to

collect them because while the defendant may or may not have assets at

this time, the defendant' s future ability to pay is speculative. In addition, 

the defendant can take advantage of the protections of the statute at the

time the State seeks to collect the costs. Therefore, the defendant' s

challenge to the court costs is premature. The challenge to the order

requiring payment of legal financial obligations is not ripe for review. 
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D. CONCLUSION. 

The defendant received a fair trial where he was able to argue the

law and his theory of the case. The evidence was more than enough to

prove the elements beyond a reasonable doubt. The trial court followed the

law in imposing legal financial obligations. The State respectfully requests

that the judgment be affirmed.